NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

Proposal Number: 13-07-18

Material or service: E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment Proposal Due Date: February 15, 2013 by 11:00 a.m. Arizona Time

Preconference: None

Opening Location: WUSD – IT Offices 963 South Chief Avenue, Whiteriver, AZ 85941

Any interested offerors without internet access may obtain a copy of this solicitation by going to our website, calling (928) 338-4842, or a copy may be picked up during regular business hours at the District's Procurement Department, PO Box 190, Whiteriver, AZ 85941. If you experience any problems receiving this solicitation, please call (928) 338-4842.

If you do not wish to bid on this solicitation, please provide written notification of your decision. Failure to respond could result in deletion of your name from the District's vendor listing. This form may be returned to the address above, or faxed to 928.338-5239. A "No Bid" will be considered a response.

	I am submitting a "No Bid" at this time. Please keep my name on the District's Bidder's List.			
	I cannot provide services of this nature. Please remove my name from this <u>category</u> . I will submit a revised Vendor Registration Form			
	I no longer wish to do business with Whiteriver Unified School District. Please remove my name from the District's Bidder's List.			
	I am no longer in the business to provide these services. Please remove my name from the District's Bidder's List.			
Name of the Company:				
Name	and Position Held with Company:			
Autho	orized Signature/Local Representative:			
Date S	Signed:			
Telephone /Email Address:				
Mailing Address (Street, PO Box, City, State, ZIP):				



Table of Contents

Contents

J	NIFORM INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS	5
	DOCUMENTS REFERENCED:	6
2.	UNIFORM INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS / GENERAL CONDITIONS	7
	2.1 Definition of General Terms	7
	2.2 Definition of Technology Terms	8
	2.3 Inquiries	9
	2.4 Offer Preparation	. 10
	2.5 Submission of Offer	. 12
	2.6 Evaluation	. 12
	2.7 Award	. 13
	2.8 Protests	. 14
	2.9 Contract Interpretation	. 14
	2.10 Contract Administration and Operation	. 15
	2.11 Costs and Payments	. 16
	2.12 Contract Changes	. 17
	2.13 Risk and Liability	. 18
	2.14 Warranties	. 19
	2.15 School District/Public Entity's Contractual Remedies	. 20
	2.16 Contract Termination	. 21
	2.17 Contract Claims	. 2 3
	2.18 Offshore Performance	. 2 3
	2.19 Contractor's Employment Eligibility	. 2 3
	2.20 Terrorism Country Divestments	. 25
	2.21 Scrutinized Business operations	. 25
	2.22 Fingerprint Checks	. 25
	2.23 Cleanup	. 2 5
3.	SPECIAL TERMS, INSTRUCTIONS, AND CONDITIONS	. 26



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

3.1 Purpose	26
3.2 About WUSD	26
3.3 Authority:	26
3.4 Contract type:	26
3.5 No bid response:	26
3.6 Offer acceptance period:	26
3.7 Proposal opening:	27
3.8 Response format:	27
3.9 District reserves the right to:	27
3.10 Contract reference:	27
3.11 Deviations/exceptions:	27
3.12 Contingencies:	28
3.13 Familiarity of terms/condition of solicitation:	28
3.14 Lobbying:	28
3.15 Evaluation schedule:	28
3.16 Certification	28
3.17 Proposals	29
3.18 Multi-awards	30
3.19 Contract	31
3.20 Payments	32
3.21 Others	32
3.22 Insurance:	33
3.23 Indemnification / hold harmless agreement:	34
3.24 Intellectual property rights:	34
3.25 Sub-contracts:	35
3.26 Joint proposal:	35
3.27 Use of other contracts:	35
3.28 Possession of firearms / drug-free/smoke-free workplace:	35
3.29 Non-collusion statement:	36
3.31 References:	36
3.32 Integrity of proposals:	36



Whiteriver Unified School District #20

PO Box 190 Whiteriver, AZ 85941 (928) 338-4842

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

3.33 Impo	rtance of response	36
3.34 Question	s/concerns	37
3.35 Evaluatio	n process:	37
4. SCOPE OF WO	RK AND QUESTIONS	39
4.1 Summary	of Work to be awarded:	39
4.2 Term of co	ntract:	41
4.3 Contract ty	/pe:	41
4.4 Questions	and areas to be addressed in the response	41
5. Provider Requ	irements	42
6. Questionnaire	S	43
6.1 BACKGROU	JND	43
6.2. Services a	vailable:	44
6.3 Additional	questions	47
7. Cost Proposal		48
7.1 During No	mal Business Hours	48
7.2 Outside No	ormal Business Hours	49
7.3 Repair and	replacement of broken equipment	50
7.4 Firmware a	and Manufacture Support Cost	50
8. Deviations & E	xceptions	51
9. Addendum Ac	knowledgement Form	52
10. Confidential/	Proprietary Submittals Form	53
11. Offer and Aco	ceptance Form	54
12. Drug Free Wo	ork Place	55
13. NON-COLLUS	ION AFFIDAVIT FORM	56
14. I.R.S W-9 For	m	57

UNIFORM INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS

Proposal Responses Due:

February 15, 2013 by 11:00 a.m. Arizona Time

Proposals Received will be received at:

963 South Chief Ave, Whiteriver, AZ 85941

Proposals Received will be opened at:

WUSD - IT Offices 963 South Chief Avenue, Whiteriver, AZ 85941

In accordance with School District Procurement Rules in the Arizona Administrative Code (A.A.C.) promulgated by the State Board of Education pursuant to A.R.S. 15-213, Proposals for the material or services specified will be received by the **Whiteriver Unified School District**, at the above specified location, until the time and date cited. Proposals received by the correct time and date shall be opened and the vendors submitting shall be publicly read. All other information contained in the Proposal shall remain confidential until award is made. If you need directions to our office, please call **928 338-4842.** We are not in an overnight delivery area.

This proposal is being issued to be compliant with the Federal E-Rate Program and therefore should obey all E-Rate program guide line and regulations (administrative laws) of the E-Rate program) in addition of following Arizona laws pertaining to public school district. In addition the proposal should be in accordance with the local laws of the Whiteriver Apache White Mountains Tribe. The offeror is responsible to be aware and familiar with the several laws and regulations of the mentioned above entities.

R: The Whiteriver Apache White Mountains Tribe has among their laws, TERO laws that involves certain fees and labor regulations for certain projects. It is up to vendor / provided to be familiar with these.

Proposals shall be in the actual possession of the District, at the location indicated, on or prior to the exact time and date indicated above. Late Proposals shall not be considered.

Proposals must be submitted in a sealed envelope using the District provided label and/or envelope with the solicitation number and offeror's name and address clearly indicated on the envelope. All Proposals must be written legibly in ink or typewritten. Additional instructions for preparing a Proposal are provided herein.

Proposals will be opened publicly immediately after the hour of closing. The name of each firm submitting a proposal and other relevant information, as determined by the District, shall be recorded. This record shall be open for public inspection at the time of the proposal opening. All other information, including pricing, shall remain confidential until after the award is made. The contract will not be awarded solely on the basis of cost. All information and proposals submitted will be made available for public inspection after the award has been made, except to the extent that the offer-or has requested, and the District concurs, that certain information remain

Whiteriver Unified School District #20 PO Box 190 Whiteriver, AZ 85941 (928) 338-4842 NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

confidential.

The Whiteriver School District #20 reserves the right to accept, reject any or all proposals or any portion of the proposal. The Whiteriver School District #20 reserves the right to cancel the RFP at any time.

3 Copies are request, plus one marked original.

This solicitation consists of instructions, general terms and conditions, award criteria, proposal form, form of contract, special terms and conditions, and specifications. Offerors are strongly encouraged to carefully read all general information, the special terms and conditions, and specifications for the products/services being offered. Failure to examine any of the requirements will be at offeror's risk.

DOCUMENTS REFERENCED:

You may access a copy of the documents referenced within this proposal at the following web addresses:

Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) is available at: http://www.azleg.state.az.us/ArizonaRevisedStatutes.asp

The Arizona School District Procurement Rules in the Arizona Administrative Code is available at:

http://azsos.gov/public services/Title 07/7-02.htm#Article 10

I.R.S W-9 Form (Request for Taxpayer I.D. Number) is available at: http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/fw9.pdf

USFR Questionnaire:

http://www.auditorgen.state.az.us/manuals schooldistrict.htm

2. UNIFORM INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS / GENERAL CONDITIONS

2.1 Definition of General Terms

As used in these instructions, the terms listed below are defined as follows:

- A. "Attachment" means any item the Solicitation requires an Offeror to submit as part of the Offer.
- B. "Contract" means the combination of the Solicitation, including the uniform and Special Instructions to Offerors, the Uniform and Special Terms and Conditions, and the Specifications and Statement or Scope of Work; the Offer and any Best and Final Offers; and any Solicitation Amendments (Addenda) or Contract Amendments; and any terms applied by law.
- C. "Contract Amendment" means a written document signed by the Procurement Officer that is issued for the purpose of making changes in the Contract.
- D. "Contractor" means any person who has a contract with the School District/public entity.
- E. "Days" means calendar days unless otherwise specified.
- F. **"Exhibit"** means any item labeled as an Exhibit in the Solicitation or placed in the Exhibits section of the solicitation.
- G. "Gratuity" means a payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of money, services, or anything of more than nominal value present or promised, unless consideration of substantially equal or greater value is received.
- H. "Offer" means bid, proposal or quotation.
- I. "Offeror" means a vendor who responds to a Solicitation.
- J. "Procurement Officer" means the person duly authorized to enter into and administer Contracts and make written determinations with respect to the Contract or his or her designee.
- K. "Solicitation" means an Invitation for Bids (IFB), a Request for Proposals (RFP), or a Request for Quotations (RFQ).
- L. **"Solicitation Amendment (or Addendum)"** means a written document that is authorized by the Procurement Officer and issued for the purpose of making changes to the Solicitation.
- M. **"Subcontract"** means any Contract, express or implied, between the Contractor and another party or between a subcontractor and another party delegating or assigning, in whole or in part, the making or furnishings of any material or any service required for the performance of the Contract.



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

E. **"School District/Public Entity"** means the School District/public entity that executes the contract.

2.2 Definition of Technology Terms

As used in these instructions, the terms listed below are defined as follows:

- A. "Application benefit" means a quantified assessment of the benefits to be achieved in state program and support areas by the information systems or telecommunications systems proposed by the vendor, including reasonably projected reductions in program costs and increases in productivity of state personnel.
- B. "Information systems" means a system of hardware, software or vendor support costing more than one hundred thousand dollars that processes information or data by electronic data processing methods and devices.
- C. "Life cycle" means the useful life of the information systems or telecommunications systems to the original using agency to perform the application for which it was initially procured.
- D. "State contract" means an indefinite quantity contract for one or more similar materials or services that is awarded to more than one bidder or offeror to satisfy the needs of more than one using agency.
- E. "Telecommunications systems" means a system costing more than one hundred thousand dollars, including but not limited to all instrumentalities, facilities, apparatus and services, for the transmission and reception of messages, impressions, signs, signals, pictures, sounds or any other symbols by wire, radio, optical cable, electromagnetic or other similar means.
- F. "Total life cycle cost" means vendor costs, total state costs and financing costs throughout the life cycle of the information systems or telecommunications systems being purchased.
- G. "Total district costs" means costs to the district for the information systems or telecommunications systems including energy, facilities, personnel and all other identifiable district costs.
- H. "Vendor costs" means costs of all hardware, materials, software, transportation, vendor support and all other identifiable costs associated with the vendor's proposal or bid.
- "Vendor support" means services provided by the vendor for items such as consulting, education, management of the information systems or telecommunications systems, systems planning, development, integration and maintenance and training.

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

2.3 Inquiries

- J. Duty to Examine. It is the responsibility of each Offeror to examine the entire Solicitation, seek clarification in writing, and check its Offer for accuracy before submitting the Offer. Lack of care in preparing an Offer shall not be grounds for withdrawing the Offer after the Offer due date and time nor shall it give rise to any Contract claim.
- K. Solicitation Contact Person. Any inquiry related to a Solicitation, including any requests for or inquiries regarding standards referenced in the Solicitation, shall be directed solely to the Solicitation contact person. The Offeror shall not contact or direct inquires concerning this Solicitation to any other employee unless the Solicitation specifically identifies a person other than the Solicitation contact person as a contact.
- L. Submission of Inquiries. The Procurement Officer or the person identified in the Solicitation as the contact for inquires may require that an inquiry be submitted in writing. Any inquiry related to a Solicitation shall refer to the appropriate Solicitation number, page, and paragraph. Do not place the Solicitation number on the outside of the envelope containing that inquire since it may then be identified as an Offer and not be opened until after the Offer due date and time.
- M. **Timeliness**. Any inquiry shall be submitted as soon as possible and at least seven (7) days before the Offer due date and time. Failure to do so may result in the inquiry not being answered.
- N. **No Right to Rely on Verbal Responses**. Any inquiry that results in changes to the Solicitation shall be answered solely through a written Solicitation Amendment or Addendum. An Offeror may not rely on verbal responses to its inquires.
- O. **Solicitation Amendments/Addenda**. The Solicitation shall only be modified by a Solicitation Amendment or Addendum.
- P. **Pre-Offer Conference**. If a pre-Offer conference has been scheduled under this Solicitation, the date, time, and location appear on the Solicitation cover sheet or elsewhere in the Solicitation. An Offeror should raise any questions it may have about the Solicitation or the procurement at that time. An Offeror may not rely on any verbal responses to questions at the conference. Material issues raised at the conference that result in changes to the Solicitation shall be answered solely through a written Solicitation Amendment or Addendum.
- Q. Persons with Disabilities. Persons with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language interpreter, by contacting the appropriate Solicitation contact person. Requests shall be made as early as possible to allow time to arrange the accommodation.



2.4 Offer Preparation

- A. **Forms**: No Facsimile or Telegraphic Offers. An Offer shall be submitted either on the forms provided in this Solicitation or their substantial equivalent. Any substitute document for the forms provided in this Solicitation will be legible and contain the same information requested on the form. A facsimile, telegraphic or mailgram offer shall be rejected.
- B. **Typed or Ink; Corrections**. The Offer must be typed or in ink. Erasures, interlineations or other modifications in the Offer must be initialed in ink by the person signing the Offer. Modifications shall not be permitted after Offers have been opened except as otherwise provided under applicable law.
- C. Evidence of Intent to be Bound. The Offer and Acceptance form within the Solicitation must be submitted with the Offer and must include a signature by a person authorized to sign the Offer. The signature shall signify the Offeror's intent to be bound by the Offer and the terms of the Solicitation and that the information provided is true, accurate, and complete. Failure to submit verifiable evidence of an intent to be bound, such as an original signature, shall result in rejection of the Offer.
- D. Exceptions to Terms and Conditions. All exceptions included with the Offer shall be submitted in a clearly identified separate section of the Offer in which the Offeror clearly identifies the specific paragraphs of the Solicitation where the exceptions occur. Any exceptions not included in such a section shall be without force and effect in any resulting Contract unless such exception is specifically referenced by the Procurement Officer in a written statement. The Offeror's preprinted or standard terms will not be considered as a part of any resulting Contract.
 - Invitation for Bids: An Offer that takes exception to a material requirement of any part of the Solicitation, including terms and conditions, shall be rejected.
 - b. Request for Proposals: All exceptions that are contained in the Offer may negatively affect the proposal evaluation based on the evaluation criteria as stated in the Solicitation or result in rejection of the Offer.
- E. **Subcontracts**. Offeror shall clearly list any proposed subcontractors and the subcontractor's proposed responsibilities in the Offer.
- F. **Cost of Offer Preparation**. The District will not reimburse any Offeror the cost of responding to a Solicitation.
- G. **Solicitation Amendments/Addenda**. Unless otherwise stated in the Solicitation, each Solicitation Amendment or Addendum shall be signed with an original signature by the person signing the Offer, and shall be submitted no later than the Offer due date and time. Failure to return a signed copy of a material Solicitation Amendment or Addendum or to follow the instructions for acknowledgement of the Solicitation



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

Amendment/Addendum shall result in rejection of the Offer.

- H. **Federal Excise Tax**. School Districts/public entities are exempt from Federal Excise Tax on manufactured goods. Exemption Certificates will be prepared upon request.
- I. **Provision of Tax Identification Numbers**. Offerors are required to provide their Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax number and/or Federal Tax Identification number, if applicable, in the space provided on the Offer and Acceptance Form and provide the tax rate and amount, if applicable, on the Price Sheet.
- J. **Identification of Taxes in Offer**. School Districts/public entities are subject to all applicable state and local transaction privilege taxes. If Arizona resident Offerors do not indicate taxes on a separate item in the Offer, the School District will conclude that the price(s) offered includes all applicable taxes.
- K. Disclosure. If the Firm, business, or person submitting this Offer has been debarred, suspended, or otherwise lawfully precluded from participating in any public procurement activity, including being disapproved as a subcontractor with any federal, state, or local government, or if any such preclusion from participation from any public procurement activity is currently pending, the Offeror must fully explain the circumstances relating to the preclusion or proposed preclusion in the Offer. The Offeror shall include a letter with its Offer setting forth the name and address of the governmental unit, the effective date of this suspension or debarment, the duration of the suspension or debarment, and the relevant circumstances relating the suspension or debarment. If suspension or debarment is currently pending, a detailed description of all relevant circumstances including the details enumerated above must be provided.
- L. **Solicitation Order of Precedence**. In the event of a conflict in the provisions of this Solicitation, the following shall prevail in the order set forth below:
 - a. Special Terms and Conditions;
 - b. Uniform General Terms and Conditions;
 - c. Statement of Scope of Work;
 - d. Specifications;
 - e. Attachments;
 - f. Exhibits;
 - g. Special Instructions to Offerors; and
 - h. Uniform Instructions to Offerors
- M. **Delivery**. Unless stated otherwise in the Solicitation, all prices shall be F.O.B. Destination and shall include all delivery and unloading at the destination(s).



2.5 Submission of Offer

- A. **Sealed Envelope or Package**. Each Offer shall be submitted to the submittal location identified in this Solicitation, in a sealed envelope or package that identifies its contents as an Offer and the Solicitation number to which it responds. The appropriate Solicitation number shall be plainly marked on the outside of the envelope or package.
- B. **Offer Amendment or Withdrawal**. An Offer may not be amended or withdrawn after the Offer due date and time except as otherwise provided under applicable law.
- C. Public Record. Under applicable law, all Offers submitted and opened are public records and must be retained by the School District/public entity. Offers shall be open to public inspection after Contract award, except for such Offers deemed to be confidential by the School District/public entity. If an Offeror believes that information in its Offer should remain confidential, it shall stamp as confidential that information and submit a statement with its Offer detailing the reasons that information should not be disclosed. The School District/public entity shall make a determination on whether the stamped information is confidential pursuant to the School District/public entity's Procurement Code.
- D. **Non-collusion, Employment, and Services**. By signing the Offer and Acceptance form or other official contract form, the offeror certifies that:
 - a. It did not engage in collusion or other anti-competitive practices in connection with the preparation or submission of its offer; and
 - b. It does not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, or person to whom it provides services because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or disability, and that it complies with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and executive orders regarding employment.

2.6 Evaluation

- A. **Unit Price Prevails**. Where applicable, in the case of discrepancy between the unit price or rate and the extension of that unit price or rate, the unit price or rate shall govern.
- B. **Taxes**. All applicable taxes in the Offer will be considered by the School District/public entity when determining the lowest bid or evaluating proposals; except when a responsive Offeror which is otherwise reasonably susceptible for award is located outside of Arizona and is not subject to a transaction privilege or use tax of a political subdivision of this state. In that event, all applicable taxes which are the obligation of Offerors in state and out of state, Offerors shall be disregarded in the Contract Award.



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

At all times, payment of taxes and the determination of applicable taxes and rates are the sole responsibility of the Contractor.

- C. Late Offers. An offer submitted after the exact Offer due date and exact time shall be rejected.
- D. **Disqualification**. The Offer of an Offeror who is currently debarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully prohibited from any public procurement activity may be rejected.
- E. Offer Acceptance Period. An Offeror submitting an Offer under this Solicitation shall hold its Offer open for the number of days from the Offer due date that is stated in the Solicitation. If the Solicitation does not specifically state a number of days for the Offer acceptance, the number of days shall be ninety (90). If a Best and Final Offer is requested pursuant to a Request for Proposals, an Offeror shall hold its Offer open for ninety (90) days from the Best and Final due date.
- F. **Payment**. Payments shall comply with the requirements of A.R.S. Titles 35 and 41, Net 30 days. Upon receipt and acceptance of goods or services, the Contractor shall submit a complete and accurate invoice for payment within thirty (30) days.
- G. Waiver and Rejection Rights. Notwithstanding any other provision of the solicitation, the School District/public entity reserves the right to:
 - a. Waive any minor informality;
 - b. Reject any and all offers or portions thereof; or
 - c. Cancel a solicitation.

2.7 Award

- A. **Number or Types of Awards**. Where applicable, the School District/public entity reserves the right to make multiple awards or to award a Contract by individual line items, by a group of line items, or to make an aggregate award, whichever is deemed most advantageous to the School District/public entity. If the Procurement Officer determines that an aggregate award to one Offeror is not in the School District/public entity's interest, "all or none" Offers shall be rejected.
- B. **Contract Inception**. An Offer does not constitute a Contract nor does it confer any rights on the Offeror to the award of a Contract. A Contract is not created until the Offer is accepted in writing by the Procurement Officer's signature of the Offer and Acceptance Form. A letter or other notice of award or of the intent to award shall not constitute acceptance of the Offer.
- C. **Effective Date**. The effective date of this Contract shall be the date that the Procurement Officer signs the Offer and Acceptance Form or other official contract form, unless another date is specifically stated in the Contract.

D. **Final acceptance** for each participating School District will be contingent upon the approval of their Governing Board, if applicable.

2.8 Protests

A protest shall comply with and be resolved according to Arizona Department of Education School District Procurement Code Rule A.A.C. R7-2-1141 through R7-2-1153. Protests shall be in writing and be filed with the District Representative, Earl Pettit, Superintendent. A protest of a Solicitation shall be received by the District Representative before the Offer due date. A protest of a proposed award or of an award shall be filed with the Procurement Officer within ten (10) days after the protester knows or should have known the basis of the protest. A protest shall include:

- A. The name, addresses, and telephone number of the protester;
- B. The signature of the protester or its representative;
- C. Identification of the purchasing agency and the Solicitation or Contract number;
- D. A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds of the protest including copies of relevant documents; and
- E. The form of relief requested.

2.9 Contract Interpretation

- A. **Arizona Law**. The law of Arizona applies to this Contract including, where applicable, the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted by the State of Arizona and the Arizona School District Procurement Code, Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) 15-213, and its implementing rules, Arizona Administrative Code (A.A.C.) Title 7, Chapter 2, Articles 10 and 11.
- B. **Implied Contract Terms**. Each Provision of law and any terms required by law to be in this Contract are a part of this Contract as if fully stated in it.
- C. **Contract Order of Preference**. In the event of a conflict in the provisions of the Contract, the following shall prevail in the order set forth below:
 - i. Special Terms and Conditions;
 - ii. Uniform General Terms and Conditions;
 - iii. Statement or Scope of Work;
 - iv. Specifications;
 - v. Attachments;
 - vi. Exhibits;



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

- vii. Documents Referenced in the Solicitation;
- D. **Relationship of Parties**. The Contractor under this Contract is an independent Contractor. Neither party to this Contract shall be deemed to be the employee agent of the other party to the Contract.
- E. **Severability**. The provisions of this Contract are severable. Any term or condition deemed illegal or invalid shall not affect any other term or condition of the Contract.
- F. **No Parol Evidence**. This Contract is intended by the parties as a final and complete expression of their agreement. No course of prior dealings between the parties and no usage of the trade shall supplement or explain any terms used in this document.
- G. **No Waiver**. Either party's failure to insist on strict performance of any term or condition of the Contract shall not be deemed waiver of that term or condition even if the party accepting or acquiescing in the nonconforming performance knows of the nature of the performance and fails to object to it.

2.10 Contract Administration and Operation

- A. **Records**. Under A.R.S. § 35-214 and § 35-215, the Contractor shall retain and shall Contractually require each Subcontractor to retain all data and other records ("records") relating to the acquisition and performance of the Contract for a period of five years after the completion of the Contract. All records shall be subject to inspection and audit at reasonable times. Upon request, the Contractor shall produce a legible copy of any or all such records.
- B. **Non-Discrimination**. The Contractor shall comply with State Executive Order No. 99-4, 2000-4 and all other applicable Federal and State laws, rules and regulations, including the Americans with Disabilities Act.
- C. **Audit**. At any time during the term of this Contract and five (5) years thereafter, the Contractor's or any Subcontractor's books and records shall be subject to audit by the School District/public entity and, where applicable, the Federal Government, the extent that the books and records relate to the performance of the Contract or Subcontract.
- D. Inspection and Testing. The Contractor agrees to permit access to its facilities, Subcontractor facilities and the Contractor's processes for producing the materials, at reasonable time for inspection of the materials and services covered under this Contract. The School District/public entity shall also have the right to test at its own cost the materials to be supplied under this Contract. Neither inspection at the Contractor's facilities nor testing shall constitute final acceptance of the materials. If the School



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

District/public entity determines non-compliance of the materials, the Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of all costs incurred by the School District/public entity for testing and inspection.

- E. Notices. Notices to the Contractor required by this Contract shall be made by the School District/public entity to the person indicated on the Offer and Acceptance form submitted by the Contractor unless otherwise stated in the Contract. Notices to the School District/public entity required by the Contract shall be made by the Contractor to the Solicitation Contact Person indicated on the Solicitation cover sheet, unless otherwise stated in the Contract. An authorized Procurement Officer and an authorized Contractor representative may change their respective person to whom notices shall be given by written notice and an Amendment to the Contract shall not be necessary.
- F. Advertising and Promotion of Contract. The Contractor shall not advertise or publish information for commercial benefit concerning this Contract without the prior written approval of the Procurement Officer.
- G. Property of the School District/Public Entity. Any materials, including reports, computer programs and other deliverables, created under this Contract are the sole property of the School District/public entity. The Contractor is not entitled to a patent or copyright on those materials and may not transfer the patent or copyright to anyone else. The Contractor shall not use or release these materials without the prior written consent of the School District/public entity.

2.11 Costs and Payments

- A. **Payments**. Payments shall comply with the requirements of A.R.S. Titles 35 and 41, Net 30 days. Upon receipt and acceptance of goods or services, the Contractor shall submit a complete and accurate invoice for payment from the School District/public entity within thirty (30) days. The Purchase Order number must be referenced on the invoice.
- B. **Delivery**. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract, all prices shall be F.O.B. destination and shall include delivery and unloading at the destinations.
- C. Applicable Taxes.
 - a. Payment of Taxes by the School District/Public Entity. The School District/public entity will pay only the rate and/or amount of taxes identified in the Offer and in any resulting Contract.
 - b. State and Local Transaction Privilege Taxes. The School District/public entity is subject to all applicable state and local transaction privilege taxes. Transaction privilege taxes apply to the sale and are the responsibility of the seller to remit. Failure to collect taxes from the buyer does not relieve the seller from its obligation to remit taxes.



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

- c. Tax Indemnification. Contractor and all Subcontractors shall pay all federal, state, and local taxes applicable to its operation and any persons employed by the Contractor. Contractor shall, and require all Subcontractors to hold the School District/public entity harmless from any responsibility for taxes, damages and interest, if applicable, contributions required under federal, and/or state and local laws and regulations and any other costs including transaction privilege taxes, unemployment compensation insurance, Social Security and Worker's Compensation.
- D. **IRS W-9**. In order to receive payment under any resulting Contract, Contractor shall have a current I.R.S. W-9 Form on file with the School District/public entity.
- E. Availability of Funds for the Next Fiscal Year. Funds may not presently be available for performance under this Contract beyond the current fiscal year. No legal liability on the part of the School District/public entity for any payment may arise under this Contract beyond the current fiscal year until funds are made available for performance of the Contract. The School District/public entity will make reasonable efforts to secure such funds.
- F. White Mountain Apache Tribe TERO taxes. The vendor is responsible to determinate if the services provided are subjected to TERO taxes and in negotiating and paying TERO fees with the White Mountain Apache Tribe TERO department.

2.12 Contract Changes

- A. Amendments. This Contract is issued under the authority of the Procurement Officer who signed this Contract. The Contract may be modified only through a Contract Amendment within the scope of the Contract signed by the Procurement Officer. Changes to the Contract, including the addition of work or materials, the revision of payment terms, or the substitution of work or materials, directed by an unauthorized employee or made unilaterally by the Contractor are violations or the Contract and or applicable law. Such changes, including unauthorized written Contract Amendments, shall be void and without effect, and the Contractor shall not be entitled to any claim and this Contract based on those changes.
- B. **Subcontracts**. The Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontract under this Contract without the advance written approval of the Procurement Officer. The Subcontract shall incorporate by reference the terms and conditions of this Contract.
- C. **Assignment and Delegation**. The Contractor shall not assign any right nor delegate any duty under this Contract without the prior written approval of the Procurement Officer. The Procurement Officer shall not unreasonably withhold approval.



2.13 Risk and Liability

- A. Risk of Loss. The Contractor shall bear all loss of conforming material covered under this Contract until received by authorized personnel at the location designated in the purchase order or Contract. Mere receipt does not constitute final acceptance. The risk of loss for nonconforming materials shall remain with the Contractor regardless of receipt.
- B. **General Indemnification**. To the extent permitted by A.R.S. § 41-621 and § 35-154, the School District/public entity shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Contractor for its vicarious liability as result of entering into this Contract. Each party to this Contract is responsible for its own negligence.
- C. Indemnification Patent and Copyright. To the extent permitted by A.R.S. § 41-621 and § 35-154, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the School District/public entity against any liability, including costs and expenses, for infringement of any patent, trademark, or copyright arising out of Contract performance or use by the School District/public entity of materials furnished or work performed under this Contract. The School District/public entity shall reasonably notify the Contractor of any claim for which it may be liable under this paragraph.

D. Force Majeure.

- i. Except for payment of sums due, neither party shall be liable to the other nor deemed in default under this Contract if and to the extent that such party's performance of this Contract is prevented by reason of force majeure. The term "force majeure" means an occurrence that is beyond the control of the party affected and occurs without its fault or negligence. Without limiting the foregoing, force majeure includes acts of God; acts of the public enemy; war; riots; strikes; mobilization; labor disputes; civil disorders; fire; flood; lockouts; injections-interventionacts; or failures or refusals to act by government authority; and other similar occurrences beyond the control of the party declaring force majeure which such party is unable to prevent by exercising reasonable diligence.
- ii. Force Majeure shall not include the following occurrences:
 - Late delivery of equipment or materials caused by congestion at a manufacturer's plant or elsewhere, or an oversold condition of the market; or



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

- 2. Late performance by a Subcontractor unless the delay arises out of a force majeure occurrence in accordance with this force majeure term and condition.; or
- 3. Inability of either the Contractor or any Subcontractor to acquire or maintain any required insurance, bonds, licenses, or permits.
- iii. If either party is delayed at any time in the progress of the work by force majeure, the delayed party shall notify the other party in writing of such delay, as soon as is practicable and no later than the following working day, of the commencement thereof and shall specify the causes of such delay in such notice. Such notice shall be delivered or mailed certified-return receipt requested, and shall make a specific reference to this article, thereby invoking its provisions. The delayed party shall cause such delay to cease as soon as practicable and shall notify the other party in writing when it has done so. The time of completion shall be extended by Contract Amendment for a period of time equal to the time that results or effects of such delay prevent the delayed party from performing in accordance with this Contract.
- iv. Any delay or failure in performance by either party hereto shall not constitute default hereunder or give rise to any claim for damages or loss of anticipated profits if, and to the extent that such delay or failure is caused by force majeure.
- E. **Third Party Antitrust Violations**. The Contractor assigns to the School District/public entity any claim for overcharges resulting from antitrust violation the extent that those violations concern materials of services supplied by third parties to the Contractor toward fulfillment of this Contract.

2.14 Warranties

- A. **Liens**. The Contractor warrants that the materials supplied under this Contract are free of liens.
- B. **Quality**. Unless otherwise modified elsewhere in these terms and conditions, the Contractor warrants that for one year after acceptance by the School District/public entity of the materials or services, they shall be:
 - a. Of a quality to pass without objection in the trade under the Contract description;
 - b. Fit for the intended purposes for which the materials or services are used;
 - c. Within the variations permitted by the Contract and are of even kind, quality, and quality within each unit and among all units;
 - d. Adequately contained, packaged and marked as the Contract may require; and



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

- e. Conform to the written promises or affirmations of fact made by the Contractor.
- C. **Fitness**. The Contractor warrants that any material or service supplied to the School District/public entity shall fully conform to all requirements of the Solicitation and all representations of the Contractor, and shall be fit for all purposes and uses required by the Contract.
- D. **Inspection/Testing**. The warranties set forth in subparagraphs A through C of this paragraph are not affected by inspection testing of or payment for the materials or services by the School District/public entity.
- E. **Exclusions**. Except as otherwise set forth in this Contract, there are no express or implied warranties or merchant ability fitness.
- F. **Compliance with Applicable Laws**. The materials and services supplied under this Contract shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, and the Contract shall maintain all applicable licenses and permits.
- G. Survival of Rights and Obligations after Contract Expiration or Termination.
 - a. Contractor's Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties made by the Contractor under this Contract shall survive the expiration of termination hereof. In addition, the parties hereto acknowledge that pursuant to A.R.S. § 12-510, except as provided in A.R.S. § 12-529, the School District/public entity is not subject to or barred by any limitations of actions prescribed in A.R.S. Title 12, Chapter 5.
 - b. Purchase Orders. The Contractor shall, in accordance with all terms and conditions of the Contract, fully perform and shall be obligated to comply with all purchase orders received by the Contractor prior to the expiration or termination hereof, unless otherwise directed in writing by the Procurement Offices, including, without limitation, all purchase orders received prior to but not fully performed and satisfied at the expiration or termination of this Contract.

2.15 School District/Public Entity's Contractual Remedies

A. **Right to Assurance.** If the School District/public entity in good faith has reason to believe that the Contractor does not intend to, or is unable to perform or continue performing the Contract, the Procurement Officer may demand in writing that the Contractor give a written assurance of intent or ability to perform. Failure by the Contractor to provide written assurance within the number of days specified in the demand may, at the School



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

District/public entity's option, be the basis for terminating the Contract under the Uniform General Terms and Conditions.

B. Stop Work Order.

- a. The School District/public entity may, at any time, by written order to the Contractor, require the Contractor to stop all or any part, of the work called for by this Contract for a period of up to ninety (90) days after the order is delivered to the Contractor, and for any further period to which the parties may agree. The order shall be specifically identified as a stop work order issued under this clause. Upon receipt of the order, the Contractor shall immediately comply with its terms and take all reasonable steps to minimize the incurrence of costs allocable to the work covered by the order during the period of work stoppage.
- b. If a stop work order issued under this clause is canceled or the period of the order or any extension expires, the Contractor shall resume work. The Procurement Officer shall make an equitable adjustment in the delivery schedule or Contract price, or both, and the Contract shall be amended in writing accordingly.
- C. **Non-exclusive Remedies**. The rights and the remedies of the School District/public entity under this Contract are not exclusive.
- D. Nonconforming Tender. Materials supplied under this Contract shall fully comply with the Contract. The delivery of materials or a portion of the materials in an installment that do not fully comply constitutes a breach of Contract. On delivery of nonconforming materials, the School District/public entity may terminate the Contract for default under applicable termination clauses in the Contract, exercise any of its remedies under the Uniform Commercial Code, or pursue any other right or remedy available to it.
- E. **Right to Offset**. The School District/public entity shall be entitled to offset against any sums due the Contractor, any expenses or costs incurred by the School District/public entity or damages assessed by the School District/public entity concerning the Contractor's nonconforming performance or failure to perform the Contract, including expenses, costs and damages described in the Uniform General Terms and Conditions.

2.16 Contract Termination

A. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest. Per A.R.S. 38-511 the School District/public entity may cancel this Contract within three (3) years after Contract execution without penalty or further obligation if any person significantly involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting, or creating the Contract on behalf of the School District/public entity is, or becomes at any time while the Contract or an extension the Contract is in effect, an employee of or a consultant to any other party to this Contract with respect to the subject matter of the Contract. The cancellation shall be effective when the Contractor receives written notice of the cancellation unless the notice specifies a later time.



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

- NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL
- B. **Gratuities**. The School District/public entity may, by written notice, terminate this Contract, in whole or in part, if the School District/public entity determines that employment or gratuity was offered or made by the Contractor or a representative of the Contractor to any officer or employee of the School District/public entity for the purpose of influencing the outcome of the procurement or securing the Contract, an Amendment to the Contract, or favorable treatment concerning the Contract, including the making of any determination or decision about Contract performance. The School District/public entity, in addition to any other rights or remedies, shall be entitled to recover exemplary damages in the amount of three (3) times the value of the gratuity offered by the Contractor.
- C. Suspension or Debarment. The School District/public entity may, by written notice to the Contractor, immediately terminate this Contract if the school District/public entity determines that the Contractor has been disbarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully prohibited from participating in any public procurement activity, including but not limited to, being disapproved as a Subcontractor of any public procurement unit or other governmental body.
- D. **Termination for Convenience**. The School District/public entity reserves the right to terminate the Contract, in whole or in part at any time, when in the best interests of the School District/public entity without penalty recourse. Upon receipt of the written notice, the Contractor shall immediately stop all work, as directed in the notice, notify all Subcontractors of the effective date of the termination and minimize all further costs to the School District/public entity. In the event of termination under this paragraph, all documents, data and reports prepared by the Contractor under the Contract shall become the property of and be delivered to the School District/public entity. The Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for work in progress, work completed, and materials accepted before the effective date of the termination. The cost principles and procedures provided in A.A.C. R7-2-1125 shall apply.

E. Termination for Default.

- i. In addition to the rights reserved in the Uniform Terms and Conditions, the School District/public entity reserves the right to terminate the Contract in whole or in part due to the failure of the Contractor to comply with any term or condition of the Contract, to acquire and maintain all required insurance policies, bonds, licenses and permits, or to make satisfactory progress in performing the Contract. The Procurement Officer shall provide written notice of the termination and the reasons for it to the Contractor.
- ii. Upon termination under this paragraph, all documents, data and reports prepared by the Contractor under the Contract shall become the property of and be delivered to the School District/public entity.



Whiteriver Unified School District #20 PO Box 190 Whiteriver, AZ 85941 (928) 338-4842 NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

materials or services.

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

iii. The School District/public entity may, upon termination of this Contract, procure, on terms and in the manner that it deems appropriate, materials and services to replace those under this Contract. The Contractor shall be liable to the School District/public entity for any

excess costs incurred by the School District/public entity reprocuring the

F. **Continuation of Performance through Termination**. The Contractor shall continue to perform, in accordance with the requirements of the Contract, up to the date of termination, as directed in the termination notice.

2.17 Contract Claims

All Contract claims and controversies under this Contract shall be resolved according to A.R.S. Title 15-213 and rules adopted thereunder.

2.18 Offshore Performance

Due to security and identity protection concerns, direct services under any subsequent contract shall be performed within the borders of the United States. Any services that are described in the specifications or scope of work that directly serve the school district(s) or charter school(s) or its clients and may involve access to secure or sensitive data or personal client data or development or modification of software for the State shall be performed within the borders of the United States. Unless specifically stated otherwise in the specifications, this definition does not apply to indirect or "overhead" services, redundant back-up services or services that are incidental to the performance of the contract. This provision applies to work performed by subcontractors at all tiers.

2.19 Contractor's Employment Eligibility

By entering the contract, contractor warrants compliance with A.R.S. 41-4401, A.R.S. 23-214, the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act (FINA), and all other federal immigration laws and regulations.

The District may request verification of compliance from any contractor or subcontractor performing work under this contract. The District reserves the right to confirm compliance in accordance with applicable laws.

Should the District suspect or find that the contractor or any of its subcontractors are not in compliance, the District may pursue any and all remedies allowed by law, including, but not limited to: suspension of work, termination of the contract for default, and suspension and/or



Whiteriver Unified School District #20 PO Box 190 Whiteriver, AZ 85941 (928) 338-4842 NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

debarment of the contractor. All costs necessary to verify compliance are the responsibility of the contractor.

Contractor agrees, when working on any federally assisted projects with more than \$2,000 in labor costs, to comply with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, the Davis-Bacon Act (Section 29, CFR Part 5), the Copeland "Anti-Kickback" Act, the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, and the Equal Opportunity Employment requirements of Executive Order 11246 as amended by Executive Order 11375. In such projects, contractor agrees to post wage rates at the work site and submit a copy of their payroll to the Member for their files. In addition, to comply with the Copeland Act, contractor must submit weekly payroll records to the Whiteriver Unified School District. Contractor must keep records for three years and allow the federal grantor agency access to these records, upon demand. Contractor also agrees to comply with State of Arizona Executive Order 75- 5, as amended by Executive Order 99-4.

When working on any projects funded with Federal grant monies, contractor agrees to comply with the administrative requirements for grants and cooperative agreements to state, local and federally recognized Indian tribal governments (24 CFR. Part 85.36). including 24 CFR 85.36(i), contract provisions.

The forms listed below are incorporated by reference into this solicitation and any resultant contract.

- HUD-5369, Instructions to Bidders for Contracts, Public and Indian Housing Programs
- HUD-5369-A, Representations, Certifications, and Other Statements of Bidders, Public and Indian Housing Programs
- HUD-5369-B. Instructions to Offerors Non-Construction
- HUD-5369-C. Certifications and Representations of Offerors Non-Construction Contract HUD-5370, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction
- HUD-5370-C1, General Conditions for Non-Construction Contracts Section 1 (With or Without Maintenance Work)
- HUD-5370-C2, General Conditions for Non-Construction Contracts Section 1 (With Maintenance Work)

For federally funded projects only, the requirements of an applicable form shall supersede conflicting requirements in this solicitation.

The forms may be accessed via HUDClips

(http://www.hud.gov/offices/adm/hudclips1

2.20 Terrorism Country Divestments

Per A.R.S. 35-392, the District is prohibited from purchasing from a company that is in violation of the Export Administration Act.

2.21 Scrutinized Business operations

Per A.R.S. 35-391, the District is prohibited from purchasing from a company with scrutinized business operations in Sudan.

Per A.R.S. 35-393, the District is prohibited from purchasing from a company with scrutinized business operations in Iran.

2.22 Fingerprint Checks

Contractor, subcontractors or vendors and their employees working under an awarded contract who are required to provide services on a regular basis (least five (5) times during a month) at an individual school, shall obtain and present a valid Department of Public Safety fingerprint clearance card in accordance with A.R.S. § 15-512 (H).

The fingerprint card shall be issued pursuant to Title 41, Chapter 12, Article 3.1. Charges for such fingerprint checks will be the responsibility of the contractor, subcontractor, vendor or individual employee as determined by the buying Member.

An exception to this requirement may be authorized in Member's Governing Board policy, for persons who, "as part of the normal" job duties of the persons, are not likely to hare independent access to or unsupervised contact with pupils.

Contractor, subcontractors or vendors and their employees shall not provide services on school district property until so authorized by the school district.

Additionally, contractor shall comply with applicable governing board fingerprinting policy(ies).

2.23 Cleanup

Contractor shall clean up and remove all debris and rubbish resulting from his work as required or directed by the Whiteriver Unified School District. Upon completion of the work, the premises shall be left in good repair and an orderly, neat, clean and unobstructed condition.



3. SPECIAL TERMS, INSTRUCTIONS, AND CONDITIONS

3.1 Purpose

The purposed of this Request for Proposals (RFP) is to contract with qualified and experienced vendor or vendors to provide the Whiteriver Unified School District (WUSD) with high quality and cost effective maintenance of its IP switches, video conferencing, telephone systems, firewalls, copper and fiber cabling infrastructure, wireless infrastructure and servers eligible under the E-Rate program.

3.2 About WUSD

The Whiteriver Unified School District #20 is located in Navajo County, Arizona. WUSD is about 22 miles south of Pinetop-Lakeside; enrollment is expected to be approximately 1,900 students. The District has five school campuses. The location is very rural with limited of providers for communication services.

3.3 Authority:

This solicitation as well as any resultant contract is issued under the authority of the Director of Business Services. No alteration on any resultant contract may be made without the express written approval of the Executive Director for Business in the form of an official contract amendment. Any attempt to alter any contract without such approval is a violation of the contract and the School District Procurement Rules. Any such action is subject to legal and contractual remedies available to the District inclusive of, but not limited to, contract cancellation, suspension and/or debarment of the Offeror.

3.4 Contract type:

Fixed Price Term. Multiple years' contract will be considered.

3.5 No bid response:

If you do not wish to respond to this solicitation, please provide written notification of your decision by using the simple "No Bid" form found in this document. Failure to respond to two consecutive solicitations for similar items may result in deletion of your name from the District's Offeror listing for that item. A "No Bid" will be considered a response.

3.6 Offer acceptance period:

In order to allow for an adequate evaluation, the District requires an offer in response to this solicitation to be valid and irrevocable for 24 months after the opening time and date.

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

3.7 Proposal opening:

Proposals shall be opened on the date and time, and at the place designated on the cover page of this document, unless amended in writing by the District. The name of each Offeror shall be read at this time. All offers and any modifications and other information received in response to the Request for Proposals shall be shown only to authorize District personnel having a legitimate interest in the evaluation. After contract award, the proposals and evaluation document shall be open for public inspection.

3.8 Response format:

All proposal responses are to be in the same form as this Request for Qualifications. Address each requirement in the same order as has been requested.

3.9 District reserves the right to:

- Accept or reject any or all proposals
- Waive any irregularities and technicalities and may, at its sole discretion, request a clarification or other information to evaluate any or all proposals.
- Before awarding the contract, to require Offeror(s) to submit evidence of qualifications or any other information the District may deem necessary.
- Prior to Governing Board approval, to cancel the RFP or portions thereof, without penalty.
- Accept the proposals of any or all of the items it deems, at its sole discretion, to be in the best interest of the District
- The District reserves the right to reject any and/or all items proposed or awarded to multiple Offerors.
- Further negotiate any proposal, including price, with the highest rate Offeror under the Best and Final provision. If an agreement cannot be reached with the highest rated Offeror, the District reserves the right to negotiate and recommend award to the next highest Offeror or subsequent Offeror until an agreement is reached.

3.10 Contract reference:

All terms and conditions of this RFP, any addenda, Offeror's submissions and negotiated terms, are incorporated into the contract by reference as set forth herein.

3.11 Deviations/exceptions:

Any service not provided directly by the Offeror, must be clearly indicated as such. All services must be seamless to WUSD who will continue to work with the successful vendor. Any deviation from the general terms and conditions or exceptions taken shall be described fully and appended to the proposal form on the Offeror's letterhead over the signature of the person signing the proposal form. Such appendages shall be considered part of the Offeror's formal proposal. For the absence of any statements of deviation or exception, the proposal shall be accepted as in strict compliance with all terms and conditions.

3.12 Contingencies:

The total purchase of all orders to be issued against contracts is not known, and the Whiteriver Unified School District will not be bound to purchase a minimum quantity during any contract period. The information given is the best of our ability to project our purchases for the term of this contract.

3.13 Familiarity of terms/condition of solicitation:

Offeror should become familiar with any local conditions, which may, in any manner, affect the services required. The Offeror(s) is/are required to carefully examine the RFP terms and to become thoroughly familiar with any and all conditions and requirements that may in any manner affect the work to be performed under the contract. No additional allowance will be made due to lack of knowledge of these conditions.

3.14 Lobbying:

Offerors are hereby advised that lobbying is not permitted with any district personnel or board members related to or involved with this RFP until the administration's recommendation for award has been posted in the business office. All oral or written inquiries must be directed through the procurement department.

Lobby is defined as "any action taken by an individual, firm, association, joint venture, partnership, syndicate, corporation, and all other groups who seek to influence the Governmental Decision of a Board Member or ANY District Personnel after release and prior to the award of this contract by all entities." Any Offeror or any individuals that lobby on behalf of Offeror during the time specified will result in the rejection and disqualification of said Offer.

3.15 Evaluation schedule:

The proposals will be initially evaluated for conforming to the requirements of the RFP. Then a technical score will be given. The proposals with the highest scores may be interviewed to determine the best interests of the District.

3.16 Certification

By submission of this proposal the Offeror certifies:

- A. That the Offeror has not paid nor agreed to pay any person, other than a bona fide employee, a fee or brokerage resulting from the award of this contract.
- B. That the fees quoted in this proposal have been arrived at independently, without consultation, communication or agreement, for the purpose of restricting competition as



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

to any matter relating to such fees with any other firm.

- C. That, if awarded a contract, the Offeror agrees not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment pursuant to Executive Order 11246 as amended.
- D. That the Offeror is duly licensed for the class or work on this proposal at the time of proposal opening and will comply with all applicable legal provisions as set forth in the Arizona Revised Statutes, to include all federal, state, and county regulations and understands these provisions are part of any contract awarded to him/her.
- E. The parties to this Agreement, for valuable consideration exchanged, stipulate that an administrative hearing process shall be the sole and exclusive means of resolving disputes under this Agreement. The parties agree that all disputes will be heard and a final and binding decision rendered by a hearing officer mutually agreed upon by the District and contractor (vendor). Both parties agree to mutually share in the cost of the administrative hearing and agree that a timely hearing on this matter will occur within sixty (60) days of the time and grieving party seeks to have an administrative review of a district representative's final decision. Either party may appeal the hearing officer's decision to the Arizona Superior Court consistent with rules applicable to a final administrative decision.
- F. The Offeror has registered with School and Libraries Division to get a Service Provider Identification Number for the current year.
- G. The Offeror agree and will follow all general conditions located in the general condition section of this RFP.

3.17 Proposals

- A. All qualifications must be submitted on the forms provided by the District, in accordance with the requirements of the RFP. All information required in the Request for Proposal must be given to constitute an acceptable proposal.
- B. Proposals shall be time stamped. They shall be accepted up to and no later than, the time indicated in the Notice Request for Sealed Proposals. Those received after this time will be recorded and retained in the proposal file unopened. A Vendor submitting a late proposal shall be so notified. Late proposals shall only be returned at the Vendor's request and cost. The Vendor will assume responsibility for delivery on time at the place specified, whether sent by mail or delivered in person. Telephone, telegraphed or proposals sent via facsimile are not acceptable. This RFP will be open for 28 days in order to meet the requirements of the Federal Erate Program.
- C. Proposals shall be opened publicly at the time and place designated in the Request for



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

Proposal. The name of each Offeror shall be publicly read and recorded. All other information contained in the proposal shall be held confidential until it is awarded by the Governing Board.

- D. All proposals will be made available for public inspection after the award has been made; except to the extent that the Vendor has designated, AND THE DISTRICT CONCURS, that certain information remain confidential.
- E. If a Vendor believes that a proposal, specification, or protest contains trade secrets or other proprietary data that should remain confidential and not be disclosed as required in ARS 39-121, a statement advising the District of this factor shall accompany the proposal, and the INFORMATION IS TO BE IDENTIFIED WHEREVER IT APPEARS. PROPOSALS SUBMITTED REQUESTING THAT THE ENTIRE PROPOSAL BE HELD CONFIDENTIAL MAY BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE.
- F. The submission of a proposal will indicate the Vendor has read the general and specific instructions, that the Vendor understands the requirements and can supply the products and/or services specified.
- G. No alterations, erasures or additions are to be made in the typewritten or printed matter, unless initialized in ink.
- H. All information required by the proposal except the signature should be typewritten and must be legible. Signature must be handwritten. Illegible or vague proposals will be rejected.
 Proposals not properly signed will be considered non-responsive.
- I. No oral interpretation will be given on any part of the proposal documents. Such interpretation shall be issued in the form of a written addendum to all submitters of record and shall become a part of the contract documents.
- J. Concerns or questions regarding this proposal request must be directed to the contact person listed herein. For all other matters, Cynthia Parker, Acting Business Manager will act as the District Representative.
- K. The District will assume no responsibility for costs incurred in the preparation or submission or responses to this proposal. All information, copies of proposals, and any back-up or other related materials submitted in response to this Request for Proposal shall become the property of the District and will not be returned.

3.18 Multi-awards

A. Awards will not be made based on price alone. Each Category will be awarded to only one provider. A provider could win more than one Category. The awards will be made as will best promote the public interest, taking into consideration the qualifications of the firm submitting the proposal; the responsiveness of the proposal in meeting the requirements and specifications; contractual requirements and any additional specific criteria for evaluation included in the Request for Proposals. Only the School District is in a position



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

to determine its own best interest, therefore, the school District shall be the sole judge in determining the quality and appropriateness of their products, materials or services proposed. Their decision shall be final. The District reserves the right to arrange for discussions to assist in the evaluation of proposals in accordance with A.A.C. R7-2-1047.

- B. Unless the Offeror states otherwise, or unless otherwise provided within the Request for Proposal, the District reserves the right to award by individual line item, by group of line items, or as a total, whichever is deemed most advantageous to the District.
- C. The District reserves the right to make awards at any time within ninety
 - a. (90) days after the date of the opening, during which period proposals may not be withdrawn unless authorized by the District.
- D. The District reserves the right to reject any or all proposals or any part thereof, or to accept any proposals or any part thereof; or to waive any informalities when deemed to be in the best interest of the school District.
- E. Each contractor shall retain all books, accounts, reports, files and other records relating to the acquisition and performance of the contract for a period of five (5) years after completion of the contract. This requirement includes any subcontractors.

3.19 Contract

- A. The issuance of a formal contract or a purchase order to the successful Vendor will be considered sufficient notice of acceptance of contract. This contract shall bind the offeror to furnish and deliver goods or services at the prices, and in accordance with, the conditions of this proposal. If the offeror will require the District to sign an additional contract, then a copy of the contract MUST be included with the proposal. In the event of a conflict between the requirements of this Request for Proposals and the proposed contract, the terms and conditions of the Request for Proposals will take precedence. Any resulting contract will be contingent on a positive Funding Commitment Decision Letter from SLD.
- B. Non-performance of contract will give sufficient cause for the District to cancel the contract. Non-performance shall be construed to include, but is not restricted to, failure of successful firm to deliver in the time specified, or in the manner required. Cancellation of contract for any reason may result in the removal of the successful firm's name from the vendors list on future proposals for an indeterminate time. Contract is subject to cancellation pursuant to ARS 38-511. Should the provider default, the District will submit a SPIN change to the SLD so that the specified services can be obtained by the next provider under this same RFP.
- C. In the case of default, the school District reserves the right to purchase in the open market, or to complete the required work, at the expense of the vendor. The school District may recover any actual excess costs by:



E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

RFP 13-07-18

- NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL
- a. Deduction from an unpaid balance
- b. Collection against the proposal and/or performance bond or;
- c. Any combination of the aforementioned remedies or any other remedies as provided by law.
- d. Any contract entered into as result of this solicitation is for the convenience of the District and as such, may be terminated without default by the District by providing a written thirty (30) day notice of termination. Any contract resulting from this RFP will be contingent on receiving Erate funding for the year(s) in question.

3.20 Payments

- A. Payment will be made only after submission of proper invoices as required by the District, within applicable state law and all federal Erate requirements.
- B. Payment of any invoice shall not preclude the District from making claim for adjustment on any item or service found not to have been in accordance with general conditions and specifications and those of SLD and federal Erate Program.

3.21 Others

- A. The successful firm(s) shall not be held responsible for any losses resulting if the fulfillment of the terms of the contract shall be delayed or prevented by wars, acts of public enemies strikes, fires, floods, acts of God or any other acts not within the control of the successful firm and which by the exercise of reasonable diligence he is unable to prevent.
- B. Assignment Unless otherwise provided for in the specific instructions or specifications, it is mutually understood and agreed that the successful firm shall not assign, transfer, convey, sublet or otherwise dispose of this contract or his right, title or interest therein without prior written approval of the District. This is especially true due to Erate constraints.
- C. Indemnification Vendors shall hold the District's officers, agents and employees free and harmless from, and against any and all liability, including cost of claims, suits and counsel fees arising from, growing out of, or incidental to, the actual or alleged use of any copyrighted composition, secret or proprietary process, patented or unpatented invention, article or appliance, including foreign letters patents, furnished as a result of this Request for Proposal.
- D. Proposal protests must be in writing, and filed with the District Representative. Protests based upon an alleged impropriety in solicitation apparent before the proposal opening, must be filed before the proposal opening. Protests of a proposed-award or of an award must be filed within ten (10) calendar days after a protester knows, or should have known the basis of the protest.
- E. Periods of time, stated as number of days, shall be in calendar days.
- F. The District's prospective bidder/offeror list will not be made available for public inspection and will be kept confidential in the best interest of competition in accordance with A.R.S. 39-121 and A.A.C. R7-2-1023.

3.22 Insurance:

The District requires a complete and valid certificate of insurance prior to the commencement of any service or activity specified in this solicitation. The District will notify the successful Offeror(s) of the intent to issue a contract award. The successful Offeror(s) must at that time submit an original copy of the attached certificate of insurance for coverage in the minimum amounts stated. The coverage shall be maintained in full force and effect during the term of the contract and shall not serve to limit any liabilities or any other Offeror obligations. Required insurance is as follows:

- a. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY: Awarded Offeror(s) shall procure and maintain, for the life of this contract/agreement, Commercial General Liability Insurance. This policy shall provide coverage for death, bodily injury, personal injury, products and completed operations liability and property damage that could arise directly or indirectly from the performance of this agreement. It must be an occurrence form policy. THE WHITERIVER UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT SHALL BE NAMED AS AN ADDITIONAL INSURED ON THE CERTIFICATE FOR COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE. The minimum limits of coverage shall be \$1,000,000 per Occurrence, Combined, Single Limit for Bodily Injury Liability and Property Damage Liability.
- b. BUSINESS AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY: Offeror(s) shall procure and maintain, for the life of the contract/agreement, Business Automobile Liability Insurance. The Whiteriver Unified school district shall be named as an additional insured on the certificate for business automobile liability insurance. The minimum limits of coverage shall be \$1,000,000 per occurrence, Combined Single Limit for Bodily Injury Liability and Property Damage Liability. This coverage shall be an "Any Auto" form policy. The insurance must be an occurrence form policy. In the event the contractor does not own any vehicles, we will accept hired and non-owned coverage in the amounts listed above. In addition, an affidavit signed by the contractor indicating the following on their letterhead is required: (Company Name) does not own any vehicles. In the event we acquire any vehicles throughout the term of this contract/agreement, (Company Name) agrees to purchase "Any Auto" coverage as of the date of acquisition.
- c. PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY: The Offeror(s) shall procure and maintain Professional Liability Insurance for the life of this contract/agreement, plus two years after completion. This insurance shall provide coverage against such liability resulting from this contract. The minimum limits of coverage shall be \$1,000,000 with a deductible not to exceed \$5,000. The deductible shall be the responsibility of the insured. Professional liability policies shall include an endorsement whereby the awarded provider holds harmless the Whiteriver Unified School District and each officer, agent and employees of the Whiteriver Unified School District against all claims, against any of them, for personal injury or wrongful death or property damage arising out of the negligent performance of professional services or caused by an error, omission or



Whiteriver Unified School District #20 PO Box 190 Whiteriver, AZ 85941 (928) 338-4842 NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

negligent act of the awarded provider or anyone employed by the awarded provider. This policy must be continued or tail coverage provided for two years after completion of the project.

d. WORKERS' COMPENSATION: Offeror(s) must carry Workers' Compensation and Employees' Liability Insurance with at least the minimum Arizona statutory limits. Successful Offeror will be required to submit proof of and maintain Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance as required by law.

3.23 Indemnification / hold harmless agreement:

Awarded Offeror(s) shall, in addition to any other obligation to indemnify the Whiteriver Unified School District to the fullest extent permitted by law, protect, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Districts, their agents, officers, elected officials and employees from and against all claims, actions, liabilities, losses (including economic losses), costs arising out of any actual or alleged; bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or injury to or destruction of tangible property including the loss of use resulting there from, or any other damage or loss arising out of, or claimed to have resulted in whole or in part from any actual or alleged act or omission of the contractor, subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, of anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable in the performance of the work; or violation of law, statute, ordinance, governmental administration order, rule or regulation by contractor in the performance of the work; or liens, claims or actions made by the contractor or any subcontractor or other party performing the work.

The indemnification obligations hereunder shall not be limited to any limitation on the amount, type of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for the contractor of any subcontractor under workers' compensation acts; disability benefit acts, other employee benefit acts or any statutory bar. Any costs or expenses, including attorney's fees, incurred by the Whiteriver Unified School District to enforce this agreement shall be borne by the provider

3.24 Intellectual property rights:

The Offeror(s) will indemnify and hold harmless, the Districts from liability of any nature or kind, including costs and expenses for or on account of any copyrighted, service marked, trademarked, patented or un-patented invention, process, article or work manufactured or used in the performance of the contract, including its use by the Districts. If the Offeror(s) uses any design, device, materials or works covered by letters, service mark, trademark, patent, copyright and/or any other intellectual property right, it is mutually agreed and understood without exception that the proposal prices will include all royalties of costs arising from the use of such design, device, or materials in any way involved in the work. This article will survive the termination of any contract with the School District.

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

3.25 Sub-contracts:

Nothing contained in this specification will be construed as establishing any contractual relationship between any sub-Offeror(s) and the District. The Offeror(s) will be fully responsible to the Districts for the acts and omissions of the sub-Offeror (s) and their employees. After award of contract, any changes in subcontractors or sub-Offerors require prior written approval by Whiteriver Unified School District.

3.26 Joint proposal:

In the event multiple Offerors submit a joint proposal in response to the RFP, a single Offeror shall be identified as the Prime Offeror. If offering a joint proposal, Prime Offeror must include the name and address of all parties of the joint proposal. Prime Offeror shall provide all bonding and insurance requirements, execute any contract, complete the required offer form shown herein, have overall and complete accountability to resolve any dispute arising within this contract. Only a single contract with one Offeror shall be acceptable. Prime Offeror's responsibilities shall include, but not be limited to, performing of overall contract administration, preside over other Offerors participating or present at Districts meetings, oversee preparation of reports and presentations, and file any notice of protest and final protest as described herein. Prime Offeror shall also prepare and present a consolidated invoice(s) for services performed. The District shall issue only one check for each consolidated invoice to the Prime Offeror for services performed. Prime Offeror shall remain responsible for performing services associated with response to this RFP.

3.27 Use of other contracts:

The District reserves the right to utilize any other District contract, any State of Arizona Contract, any contract awarded by any other city or county governmental agencies, any other school board, any other community college/state university system cooperative bid agreement, in lieu of any offer received or award made as a result of this bid, if it is in the best interest to do so.

3.28 Possession of firearms / drug-free/smoke-free workplace:

Possession of firearms will not be tolerated on School District property; nor will violations of Federal and State laws and any applicable School Board policy regarding Drug Free Workplace be tolerated. Violations will be subject to the immediate termination provision heretofore stated.

Possession and/or use of Tobacco Products is strictly prohibited by ARS 36-798.03

"Firearm" means any weapon (including a starter gun or antique firearm) which will, is designed to, or may readily be converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive; the frame or receiver of any such weapon; any destructive device; or any machine gun. **ARS 13-3102**

No person who has a firearm in their vehicle may park their vehicle on School District property. Furthermore, no person may possess or bring a firearm on School District property.



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

If any employee of an independent contractor or sub-contractor is found to have brought a firearm on School District property, said employee will be terminated from the School Board project by the independent contractor or sub-contractor.

If the sub-contractor fails to terminate said employee, the sub-contractor's agreement with the independent contractor for the School Board project shall be terminated. If the independent contractor fails to terminate said employee or fails to terminate the agreement with the sub-contractor who fails to terminate said employee, the independent contractor's agreement will be terminated.

Offerors are to complete the Drug Free Work Place Form and return with your proposal.

3.29 Non-collusion statement:

Each Proposal shall include a signed and notarized Non-Collusion Statement.

3.30 Conflict resolution:

In the event that there are ongoing concerns, the District will meet with the successful Offeror to address and resolve their concern

3.31 References:

Each proposing firm shall contact clients of like size and request they complete and return to Whiteriver the Performance Evaluation Survey Form. The District expects to receive a minimum of five (5) and no more than ten (10) survey references for similar services provided to school districts. Preference will be given to School District Client experience. The Performance Evaluation Survey Form is included.

3.32 Integrity of proposals:

By signing this proposal Offeror affirms that he has not given, nor intends to give at any time hereafter any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan gratuity, special discount, trip favor, or service to any employee of the Whiteriver Unified School District #20 in connection with the submitted proposal. Failure to sign the proposal or signing it with a false statement shall void the submitted proposal or any resulting contract.

3.33 Importance of response

A. Failure to respond to two consecutive bids or proposals on the same commodity will result in the removal of your firm's name from the bid list for that specific commodity. A "no bid" will be

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

considered a response.

B. It is the Vendor's responsibility to keep the District informed of any address change so that notification of proposals or bids will arrive in a timely manner.

3.34 Questions/concerns

A. Questions and/or concerns regarding this proposal may be filed with either of the District Contact Person listed below:

Pierre Dehombreux (928) 338-9417 Fax pdehombreux@wusd.us

B. Vendors concerns or protests not resolved informally with the District Contact Person(s) may request a copy of the District formal protest procedures.

3.35 Evaluation process:

As provided in this RFP and under regulations promulgated by the State of Arizona, discussions may be conducted with responsible providers who submit proposals determined to be reasonably susceptible to be selected for award to assure full understanding of, and responsiveness to the solicitation requirements. Proposals shall be accorded fair treatment with respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of proposals, and such revisions may be permitted after submission and before award for the purpose of obtaining best and final proposals. In conducting these discussions, there shall be no disclosure of any cost information derived from proposals submitted by competing Providers.

In accordance with the Arizona School District Procurement Code A.A.C R7-2-1042A and A.A.C. R7-2-1050A, award(s) shall be made to the responsible offeror(s) whose proposal is determined in writing to be the most advantageous to the school district based upon the evaluation criteria listed below. The selection shall be made to the provider whose qualifications are determined to be the most advantageous.

- 1 Responsiveness of the proposal in clearly stating an understanding of the scope of work and in meeting the requirements of the RFP; **20 points**
- 2 Previous experience of the firm in general, as well as that of the individual(s) assigned to work with the District. For cellular service, this includes how well your service covers the area in and around the Whiteriver Unified School District. This includes prior experience with this or other Arizona School Districts; 10 points
- 3 The qualifications of the firm to provide these services to the District; provide appropriate and adequate staffing, provide necessary resources and show a history of demonstrated

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

competence in providing the required products and services; 10 points

- 4 The firm's ability to meet the needs of the District, taking into consideration any additional services or expertise offered that exceeds the requirements of the RFP; **10 points**
- 5 Assessment of the firm's performance on other projects, based upon information obtained by the District from the firm's references or from other sources that may be available to the District; **10 points**
- 6 Cost: While cost is a factor in considering placement of the award, it will not be the only factor. The award will not be placed on the basis of price alone, nor will it necessarily be based upon the lowest fee submitted; **40 points**

The purpose of the cost/price evaluation is to "normalize" the cost/price submittals. This is accomplished by calculating the score for each proposal by using the formula below. Initially, the price/cost proposal shall be evaluated on the total price/cost proposal.

Lowest Proposer's Cost/Price X 40% = Score

Proposer's Cost/Price

Pricing information provided in proposals will remain confidential and not be disclosed to competitors prior to the final recommendation to the School Board of an insurance program. Information on total proposal pricing may be disclosed following the award of coverage to insurance carriers. It is mutually understood and agreed that the successful Offeror shall not assign, transfer, convey, sublet or otherwise dispose of the contract or their right, title, or interest therein, or their power to execute such contract, to any other person or company without prior written consent of the District.

4. SCOPE OF WORK AND QUESTIONS

4.1 Summary of Work to be awarded:

- Cisco Voice Over IP system (Call Manager, Unity Messaging, 7 gateways) or a Mitel VoIP, depending on what will be happening between the date of the issuance of this RFP and when it comes to effect.
 - The vendor will come on site on a regular basis to do preventive maintenance and inspect the equipment.
 - The vendor will repair the equipment if failure occurs.
- ➤ Network equipment. Our Network equipment is 100% from Enterasys Networks. It is constituted of N5 or S series Chassis with Platinum blades, wireless units and B3 switches. The vendor should have technician knowledgeable to assist WUSD. The vendor will come on site on a regular basis to do preventive maintenance (firmware updates, check for dead equipment, cleaning, re-labeling as needed, physical inspection, reconfigurations as needed) and inspect the equipment. The vendor will repair the equipment if failure occurs.
- ➢ General communication equipment: Firewalls, Windows 2003 / 2008 / 2013 servers (DNS, DHCP, IIS, Exchange, Active Directory).
 The vendor should have technicians certified with Microsoft products and the ability to open a case with Microsoft. The vendor is also to provide WUSD with 20 cases (4X 5-pack Phone Support Contract) with Microsoft, so WUSD can contact directly Microsoft in case of issues.
- > Cat5e and fiber maintenance: WUSD has many Cat5e connections and fiber connections (multi and single mode).
 - The vendor should have certified staff and enough staff to meet emergencies. The vendor will quarterly clean the MDF and IDF to ensure a free dust environment for the fiber connections.
 - As needed the vendor will come on site to troubleshoot and repair existing broken connections (CAT5e and Fiber).
 - Also, the vendor will clean, test and inventory the server / switch rooms twice a year.
- ➤ Video conferencing: WUSD has a Tandberg video conferencing system. The vendor will inspect the systems twice a year (cleaning, testing, inventory, firmware). The vendor needs to be able to assist WUSD with the reconfiguration of the equipment as needed. The vendor needs to be able to repair the equipment if failure occurs.



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

This is a sample of equipment to be covered, additional equipment made and model maybe added:

Quantity	Make	Model	Equipment Function
34	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
5	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
4	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
59	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
35	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
40	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
16	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
33	Enterasys	RBT-4102	Access Point
27	Enterasys	7C105-P	Chassis
5	Enterasys	N5-SYSTEM-R	Chassis
87	Enterasys	7G4285-49	Chassis Based Switch (48 Port)
36	Enterasys	7G4205-72	Chassis Based Switch (72 Port)
			Chassis Bases Swith (4 Port
2	Enterasys	7K4297-04	Uplink)
81	Enterasys	7K-2XFP-6MCBIC	Fiber Communications Uplink
4	Enterasys	10GBASE-ER-XFP	Fiber Uplink Module
102	Enterasys	10GBASE-LR-XFP	Fiber Uplink Module
14	Enterasys	10GBASE-SR-XFP	Fiber Uplink Module
4	Enterasys	D2G124-12P	Gig Ethernet Switch (12 Port)
18	Enterasys	7C205-1	Power Supply
95	Enterasys	N-POE-1200W	Power Supply
153	Enterasys	B3G124-24P	Stackable Switch
17	Tandberg / Cisco	CODEC 6000MXP	Distance Learning / Codec
1	Tandberg / Cisco	TANDBERG VCS	Distance Learning / VCS Express
1	Tandberg / Cisco	TANDBERG VCS	Distance Learning / VCS Express
1	Tandberg / Cisco	MCU-4520	Distance Learning / Bridge
5	Tripplite	SU10000RT3UPM	UPS/Battery Backup
5	Tripplite	SU10000RT3UPM	UPS/Battery Backup
5	Tripplite	SU10000RT3UPM	UPS/Battery Backup
5	Tripplite	SU10000RT3UPM	UPS/Battery Backup
4	Tripplite	SU10000RT3UPM	UPS/Battery Backup
5	Tripplite	SU10000RT3UPM	UPS/Battery Backup
6	HP	ProLiant BL680c G5	(DHCP Server)
1			(Mail Server)
1			(DNS Server)
1			(Active Directory Server)



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

1			(Web Server)
1			(Backup email archive)
1	Cisco	7845-H2	VOIP Server

Cabling Maintenance		
Connection Type		
Cat 3, 5, 5e, 6	6000	
Coax (RG6, RG59, RG11)	0	
MMFO - 6 (per termination)	300	
SMFO	100	

4.2 Term of contract:

The term of the contract shall be date of award with any work to start no sooner than July 1, through one year. The contract may be renewed for four additional one-year periods at the discretion of the District under the federal Erate Program.

4.3 Contract type:

Fixed fee.

4.4 Questions and areas to be addressed in the response

One original and three (3) copies of the proposals must be submitted. The Whiteriver Unified School District will not assume responsibility for any costs related to the preparation or submission of the qualifications. In order for your qualifications to be considered, they must include the following:

- 1. Provide a history of the organization to include prior related experience in Erate related services to provide services and products under the Priority One category.
- 2. Include a statement of qualifications for providing these services to the District; to include information concerning the firm's understanding of certifications and professional organizations to which the firm belongs that reflect upon their professional competence.
- 3. Provide a detailed description of all services to be provided.
- 4. Include resumes of key individuals who will be assigned to work with the District.
- 5. Include the company mission statement, vision and strategic plan.
- 6. Include the company management structure with resumes of top managers and individuals holding key positions in the company.



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

- 7. A listing of no less than three (3), five are preferable, clients (preferably Arizona school districts) for whom these or similar "Erateable" services have been provided. Include the name and address of the district/library, the names and phone numbers of people the District may contact for these references.
- 8. State your Erate SPIN number and if you will, after receipt of a positive Funding Commitment Decision Letter from SLD, allow the district to pay their portion and take payment directly from SLD rather require the district to frontload the monies.

5. Provider Requirements

- 1. Have its main business activity in the area of specialty needed. All firms responding must have SPIN number provided by SLD. A firm may offer all or just one category of service.
- 2. If you do not have a current SPIN number, please go to
- 3. http://www.sl.universalservice.org/ContentInc/vendor/
- Demonstrate considerable experience as an Erate provider to public school districts and/or libraries in Arizona. It is highly desirable that the provider be currently providing these services to Arizona school districts.
- 5. Maintain a base of operation in Eastern Arizona area to service our school.
- 6. Possess a comprehensive knowledge of the principles, techniques and trends in the federal Erate program.
- 7. Have sufficient staff to service the school district on a timely basis.
- 8. The Offeror may not propose directly, indirectly or in any way acquire benefits as a function of the Offeror's role to the school district other than specified in the proposal.
- 9. Provide details on the ability of providing the service with high reliability. This should include redundancy in equipment and path. In addition, how is the equipment protected from electric outages (short and long term outages).
- 10. For Internet Connectivity (LAN, Cell / data service and Wifi), provide details on connectivity of sub-carrier and connectivity capacity and level of over-subscription.
- 11. Demonstrate understanding of how the Federal Trade Commission, Federal Communications Commission and Interstate Trade Commission regulate the provided service and what actions the provider has taken to comply and stay inform of changes of laws and regulations originating from these governing bodies.



6. Questionnaires

6.1 BACKGROUND Name of Firm: City:______State: _____ Zip: _____ Phone No.: _____ SPIN: Year Established: Names, experience and professional qualifications of those principals directly involved with the account: (may attach supplements) Number of account representatives: Number of system engineers: Erate volume in Arizona: Under \$500,000 _____ \$500,000 to \$1,000,000: \$1,000,001 to \$3,000,000: _____ \$3,000,001 to 5,000,000: Over \$5,000,000: _____

If selected to handle part or all of this District's Erate Projects, indicate the individual(s) who would be responsible for the products and services the District would deal with on



NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

a day to day basis (attach resumes):

Princ	cipal:	_ Alternate:
	ride the name and phone numbers of at products and services requested.	least 5 references for accounts of a similar nature for
NAM	MES:	PHONE NUMBER:
6.2.	Services available:	
1	Describe special experience your firm h relate to this District's Erate Projects.	as regarding this type of account and how it would
2	In house services available locally at no District:	additional cost and how it would be of benefit to the
3	In house services available locally at add	ditional cost:

Describe your firms approach to placement of Erate equipment and services if a positive FCDL is received prior to ordering:



	esources are available locally and nationally that would assist the District with thi roject?
Will yo	u maintain the discount shown on your response sheet throughout the five year ted?
How o	o you represent your clients in preparation of any appeals?
How v	ill you assist in the preparation of BEAR application forms?



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

Who is re	sponsible in your firm for signing off on BEAR forms and how can they be	reacl
How do y	ou assist the District in claims settlements with SLD?	
How will	ou assist in ascertaining outages?	
What is y	our response time to Whiteriver if there is a total outage of services?	



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

Will you	attend District meetings when requested and is there a fee?
Yes	No
Will you	be partnering with any other firms to provide these services to the District?
•	lease detail.
7 7 [-	

6.3 Additional questions

- 1. Provide a description of how you perceive the maintenance of the equipment in question.
- 2. Explain the process that WUSD will have to follow to get a technician dispatched.
- 3. Explain how you keep proper staffing to support your customers.
- 4. Explain how you provide out-going training to your technicians and any other relevant positions.

7. Cost Proposal

The bellow pricing sample requests do not reflect actual purchases intends. They will be used to evaluate pricing between vendors.

7.1 During Normal Business Hours

Item Description	Quantity	Price	Taxes	Total Price
Level 3 – On Site Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – On Site Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – On Site Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 – Remote Work Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – Remote Work Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – Remote Work Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 –Networking Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 2 –Networking Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 1 –Networking Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 3 –Networking Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 2 –Networking Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 1 –Networking Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 3 – On Site Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – On Site Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – On Site Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 – Remote Work Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – Remote Work Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – Remote Work Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 –Server Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 2 –Server Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 1 –Server Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 3 –Server Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 2 –Server Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 1 –Server Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 3 – On Site Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – On Site Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – On Site Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 – Remote Work Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

Item Description	Quantity	Price	Taxes	Total Price
Level 2 – Remote Work Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – Remote Work Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 –Infrastructure Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 2 –Infrastructure Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 1 –Infrastructure Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 3 –Infrastructure Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 2 –Infrastructure Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 1 –Infrastructure Technician – Per Diem	1			

R: Per Diem is to include: meals, lodging, local trips, vehicle mobilization with all its incurring costs and any other cost connected with the trip / staying onsite period.

7.2 Outside Normal Business Hours

Item Description	Quantity	Price	Taxes	Total Price
Level 3 – On Site Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – On Site Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – On Site Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 – Remote Work Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – Remote Work Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – Remote Work Networking Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 –Networking Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 2 –Networking Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 1 –Networking Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 3 –Networking Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 2 –Networking Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 1 –Networking Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 3 – On Site Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – On Site Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – On Site Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 – Remote Work Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – Remote Work Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – Remote Work Server Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 –Server Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 2 –Server Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 1 –Server Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 3 –Server Technician – Per Diem	1			



RFP 13-07-18
E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

Item Description	Quantity	Price	Taxes	Total Price
Level 2 –Server Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 1 –Server Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 3 – On Site Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – On Site Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – On Site Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 – Remote Work Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 2 – Remote Work Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 1 – Remote Work Infrastructure Technician	Per hour			
Level 3 –Infrastructure Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 2 –Infrastructure Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 1 –Infrastructure Technician – Mobilization	1 Round Trip			
Level 3 –Infrastructure Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 2 –Infrastructure Technician – Per Diem	1			
Level 1 –Infrastructure Technician – Per Diem	1			

R: Per Diem is to include: meals, lodging, local trips, vehicle mobilization with all its incurring costs and any other cost connected with the trip / staying onsite period.

7.3 Repair and replacement of broken equipment

Please provide discount percentage that will be offered from the manufacture listed price.

7.4 Firmware and Manufacture Support Cost

Please provide discount percentage that will be offered from the manufacture listed price.



8. Deviations & Exceptions

List any deviation or exception for any item listed in this RFP. The item number must be listed and the page it is found on. Any deviation/exception or inability of the provider to handle that particular item must be clearly and fully stated. Failure to show specific deviations indicates full compliance with the RFP.

Name of the Company:	
Name and Position Held with Company:	
Authorized Signature/Local Representative:	
Date Signed:	
Telephone /Email Address:	



9. Addendum Acknowledgement Form

This page is used to acknowledge any and all addendums that might be issued. If no addendum is issued, you need not return this page. Your signature indicates that you took the information provided in the addendum into consideration when providing your response. Please sign and date

Addendum #1	Date:
Addendum #2	Date:
Addendum #3	Date:
Addendum #4	Date:
Addendum #5	Date:
Name of the Company:	
Name and Position Held with Company:	
Authorized Signature/Local Representative:	
Date Signed:	
Telephone /Email Address:	



10. Confidential/Proprietary Submittals Form

No confidential/proprietary materials have been included with this offer.
Confidential/Proprietary materials included. Offerors should identify below any portion of their offer deemed confidential or proprietary (see Uniform Terms and Conditions).
Identification in this section does not guarantee that disclosure will be prevented but that the
item will be subject to review by the Offeror and the District prior to any public disclosure. Requests to deem the entire offer or price as confidential will not be considered.
Name of the Company:
Name and Position Held with Company:
Authorized Signature/Local Representative:
Date Signed:
Telephone /Email Address:

11. Offer and Acceptance Form

The Undersigned hereby offers and agrees to furnish the material, service or construction in compliance with all terms, conditions, specifications, and amendments in the Solicitation and any written exceptions in the offer.				
Company Name	For Clarification of this Offer, contact: Name			
Arizona Transaction (Sales) Privilege Tax License No.				
Federal Employer Identification No.	Phone			
Street Address	Fax			
City	E-mail			
State Zip	Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Offer			
Tax Rate (if applicable) %				
	Printed Name of Person Authorized to Sign Offer			
	Title			
CERTIFIC	CATION			
By signature in the Offer section above, the bidder certifies:				
 The submission of the offer did not involve collusion or other ar The bidder shall not discriminate against any employee or appli 	nti-competitive practices. icant for employment in violation of Federal Executive Order 75.5 or			
A.R.S. §§ 41-1461 through 1465.	, ,			
3. The offer complies and maintains compliance with FINA, ARS 41				
Immigration laws by State Employers, State contractors and Sta Verification Program.	ate subcontractors in accordance with the E-Verify Employee Eligibility			
	any time hereafter any economic opportunity, future employment,			
gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, trip, favor, or service to a pu				
provide a valid signature affirming the stipulations required by false statement shall void the offer, any resulting contract and r	this clause shall result in rejection of the offer. Signing the offer with a			
	and shall remain in compliance with the Export Administration Act			
6. In accordance with A.R.S. § 35-397, the offeror does not have so	crutinized business operations in Iran or Sudan.			
7. In accordance with A.R.S. § 15-512, the offeror shall comply wit	h fingerprinting requirements unless otherwise exempted.			
ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER				
The offer is hereby accepted.				
The Contractor is now bound to sell the materials or services listed by	by the attached contract and based upon the solicitation, including all			
terms, conditions, specifications, amendments, etc., and the Contract				
This contract shall henceforth be referred to as Contract No. 13-06-1	8 E-Rate 12-13 For Category:			
The Contractor is cautioned not to commence any billable work or to provide any material or service under this contract until Contractor				
receives purchase order, contract release document, or written notice to proceed.				
Awarded this:				
Andread dans (CA D) (CA	_			
Authorized signature of the District				



12. Drug Free Work Place

Preference must be given to vendors submitting a certification with their bid/proposal certifying they have a drug-free workplace. The special condition is as follows:

IDENTICAL TIE PROPOSALS - Preference shall be given to businesses with drug-free workplace programs. Whenever two or more bids, which are equal with respect to price, quality, and service for the procurement of commodities or contractual services, a bid received from a business that certifies that it has implemented a drug-free workplace program shall be given preference in the award process. Established procedures for processing tie bids will be followed if none of the tied vendors have a drug-free workplace program, a business shall:

- 1. Publish a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the workplace and specifies the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of such prohibition.
- 2. Inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the business's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace, any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs, and the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations.
- 3. Give each employee engaged in providing the commodities or contractual services that are under bid a copy of the statement specified in subsection (1).
- 4. In the statement specified in subsection (1), notify the employees that, as a condition of working on the commodities or contractual services that are under bid, the employee will abide by the terms of the statement and will notify the employer of any conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, any violation of any controlled substance law of the United States or any state, for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) days after such conviction.
- Impose a sanction on, or require the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program if such is available in the employee's community, by any employee who is so convicted.
- 6. Make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through implementation of this section.
- 7. As the person authorized to sign the statement, I certify that this firm complies fully with the above requirements.

COMPANY NAME:	
VENDOR'S SIGNATURE:	

Must be executed and returned with attached proposal at time of solicitation opening to be considered.



13. NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT FORM

STATE OF ARIZONA)	
County of) ss.		
		, affiant,	the (Name)
(Title)			
(Contractor)			
the persons, corporation, duly sworn, deposes and		makes the accompanying p	roposal, having first been
behalf of any persons not solicited any other bidder	t herein named, and to put in a sham be the bidder had not in	not sham or collusive, nod that Bidder has not directlid, or any other person, firm any manner sought by collision.	y or indirectly induced or a, or corporation to refrain
(Title)			
Subscribed and swor	n to before me	this day of	, 20
Signature of Notary I	Public in and for	r the	
County of		State of	



E-Rate Maintenance of Internal Equipment

RFP 13-07-18

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

14. I.R.S W-9 Form

www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/fw9.pdf

Depart	W-9 December 2011) ment of the Treasury I Revenue Service	Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certific	cation	Give Form to the requester. Do not send to the IRS.
	,	your income tax return)		
1987	Business name/disr	agarded entity name, if different from above		
Print or type Specific Instructions on page	Individual/sole	company. Enter the tax classification (C=C corporation, S=S corporation, P=partners		Exempt payee
₽ <u>5</u>	Other (see ins Address (number, s		Requester's name and address	(optional)
See Spe	City, state, and ZIP			
Par		er Identification Number (TIN)		
to avo reside entitie TIN or Note.	id backup withholiont alien, sole propi is, it is your employ in page 3. If the account is in er to enter.	ropriate box. The TIN provided must match the name given on the "Name" ling. For individuals, this is your social security number (SSN). However, for ietor, or disregarded entity, see the Part I instructions on page 3. For other er identification number (EIN). If you do not have a number, see <i>How to get</i> more than one name, see the chart on page 4 for guidelines on whose		-

Under penalties of perjury, I certify that:

- 1. The number shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification number (or I am waiting for a number to be issued to me), and
- I am not subject to backup withholding because: (a) I am exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that I am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am no longer subject to backup withholding, and
- I am a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined below).

Certification instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because you have failed to report all interest and dividends on your tax return. For real estate transactions, item 2 does not apply. For mortgage interest paid, acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, contributions to an individual retirement arrangement (IRA), and generally, payments other than interest and dividends, you are not required to sign the certification, but you must provide your correct TIN. See the instructions on page 4.

Cat. No. 10231X

 Sign
 signature of

 Here
 U.S. person ►
 Date ►

General Instructions

Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code unless otherwise

Purpose of Form

A person who is required to file an information return with the IRS must obtain your correct taxpayer identification number (TIN) to report, for example, income paid to you, real estate transactions, mortgage interest you paid, acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, or contributions you made to an IRA.

Use Form W-9 only if you are a U.S. person (including a resident alien), to provide your correct TIN to the person requesting it (the requester) and, when applicable, to:

- Certify that the TIN you are giving is correct (or you are waiting for a number to be issued),
 - 2. Certify that you are not subject to backup withholding, or
- 3. Claim exemption from backup withholding if you are a U.S. exempt payee. If applicable, you are also certifying that as a U.S. person, your allocable share of any partnership income from a U.S. trade or business is not subject to the withholding tax on foreign partners' share of effectively connected income.

Note. If a requester gives you a form other than Form W-9 to request your TIN, you must use the requester's form if it is substantially similar to this Form W-9.

Definition of a U.S. person. For federal tax purposes, you are considered a U.S. person if you are:

- An individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien,
- A partnership, corporation, company, or association created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States,
- . An estate (other than a foreign estate), or
- A domestic trust (as defined in Regulations section 301.7701-7).

Special rules for partnerships. Partnerships that conduct a trade or business in the United States are generally required to pay a withholding tax on any foreign partners' share of income from such business. Further, in certain cases where a Form W-9 has not been received, a partnership is required to presume that a partner is a foreign person, and pay the withholding tax. Therefore, if you are a U.S. person that is a partner in a partnership conducting a trade or business in the United States, provide Form W-9 to the partnership to establish your U.S. status and avoid withholding on your share of partnership income.

Form W-9 (Rev. 12-2011)